STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

RECEIVED

07-23-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2013AP000557 CR Trial Court Case No. 10 CF 652

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

COREY R. KUCHARSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JEANE DIMOTTO CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Scott D. Obernberger State Bar No. 1025694 The Law Office of Scott Obernberger, LLC 310 West Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1220E Milwaukee, WI 53203 (414) 220-9044

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the Trial Court err in it's application of Wisconsin Statutes § 971.15?

Trial Court Answered: No.

II. Was the Trial Court's conclusion that Mr. Kucharski was mentally responsible for the crime supported by the testimony and evidence in the Record?

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

III. Do the interests of justice dictate that Mr. Kucharski should be granted a new trial?

Trial Court Answered: Not addressed directly by Trial Court.

IV. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to call multiple witnesses and enter multiple exhibits in support of Mr. Kucharski's mental health defense?

Trial Court Answered: No.

V. Did the Trial Court err in denying Mr. Kucharski's post-conviction motion?

Trial Court Answered: Effectively answered no.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

It is the position of defendant-appellant that oral argument, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.22, may prove useful to the Court with regard to the issues raised herein.

It is the position of defendant-appellant that the publication of a decision in this matter would be proper as such decision would likely fall within the criteria for publication, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a), more specifically, Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1, 4, and 5.

This case involves the application of the standard for determinations of mental responsibility as well as a review to determine whether the Trial Court's conclusions in this regard were supported by the Record. Additionally, this Court is being asked to determine whether the interests of justice dictate that Mr. Kucharski should be granted a new trial. Alternatively, this Court is being asked to determine whether Mr. Kucharski was provided ineffective assistance of counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Corey Kucharski ("Mr. Kucharski") was convicted of two counts of "First Degree Intentional Homicide, Use of a Dangerous Weapon," violations of

Wis. Stats. §§ 940.01(1)(a), 939.50(3)(a), and 939.63(1)(b), as charged in the criminal complaint. R.1, App. 101-113; R. 2, App. 114-116; R. 5, App. 117; R. 17, App. 118-123; and R. 32, App. 124-125. Mr. Kucharski entered a plea of "no contest" during Phase I of an "NGI" court trial to the above-stated charges. R.1, App. 101-113; R. 2, App. 114-116; R. 5, App. 117; R. 17, App. 118-123; R. 32, App. 124-125; and R. 52 at p. 18. Mr. Kucharski was examined as to his plea by Judge Jean DiMotto on September 27, 2010. R. 52 at pp. 8-18. Convictions as to the charges were entered on that same date after completion of Phase II of the bifurcated trial as to Mr. Kucharski's mental responsibility. R. 32, App. 124-125; R. 52; and R. 53. Phase II was conducted as a Court Trial, the Hon. Jean DiMotto presiding. R. 52 and R. 53.

The defense at Mr. Kucharski's Phase II proceeding presented the testimony of Dr. Robert Rawski, a forensic psychiatrist who had evaluated Mr. Kucharski regarding his NGI defense. R. 10, App. 126-146; and R. 52 at pp. 19-77. Dr. Rawski concluded that Mr. Kucharski (1) suffered from a significant mental illness - undifferentiated schizophrenia and (2) was unable to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions. R. 10, App. 126-146; and R. 52 at pp. 35-42. Dr. Rawski cited to numerous supports for his conclusions, including, but not limited to, the police reports and recorded 911 call and interrogations, reports by himself (R. 10, App.

126-146), Dr. Pankiewicz (R. 11, App. 147-157)¹; Dr. Lundbohm (R. 52 at pp. 20-21); a letter report from Dr. Jurek (R. 12; App. 158); an interview with Mr. Kucharski (R. 10, App. 126-146; and R. 52 at pp. 21-22), as well as numerous writings of Mr. Kucharski (R. 52 at pp. 38-39), copies of which may be found attached to Mr. Kucharski's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. R. 36; App. 159-192. All of the reports submitted and received into evidence supported a conclusion that Mr. Kucharski was not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. R. 52 at pp. 44, 47, and 50. Mr. Kucharski was tested to determine whether malingering was an issue, and it was concluded that it was not. R. 10 at pp. 15-16 and 20; and R. 52 at pp. 32-33. Mr. Kucharski was never given psychotropic medications prior to incarceration for this offense and went almost entirely untreated until he arrived at the jail after these offenses. R. 52 at pp. 34-35.

The defense did not call any other witness, relying on the submission of the reports of Doctors Rawski, Pankiewicz, and Jurek, as well as the testimony of Dr. Rawski. R. 52 at pp. 44, 47, and 50. The defense never submitted to the Court, for its review, copies of the notes found in the home which had been authored by Mr. Kucharski. Further, the State called no witnesses and submitted no expert reports refuting the doctors' conclusions that Mr. Kucharski lacked the mental capacity to

1

Dr. Pankiewicz's report references that Mr. Kucharski lacked both "substantial capacity to appreciate the Δ

appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions or conform his behavior accordingly. R. 52 at pp. 78-81.

The Court and the parties discussed whether the standard of proof was "preponderance of the evidence" or the higher standard, "clear and convincing", the Court ultimately concluding that the lesser standard was the appropriate one. R. 52 at pp. 81-83 and R. 53 at p. 2. The Court indicated that the difference between the two standards was important in this case since it was a "very close" question" regarding whether the defense had met its burden. R. 53 at p. 2. Despite the fact that all of the testimony and evidence submitted supported Mr. Kucharski's NGI defense, including the opinions of all three doctors, Judge Jean DiMotto concluded that, Mr. Kucharski was able to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions and was, therefore, mentally responsible. R. 53 at pp. 2-8. Based on its' statements that Wis. Stats. § 971.15 analysis required only a finding on one of the prongs (either that the individual could not appreciate the wrongfulness of one's behavior or that the individual could not conform his behavior to that which he knew to be right), the Court did not appear to address whether Mr. Kucharski could conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. *Id.* at p. 8.

Prior to sentencing Mr. Kucharski, through new trial counsel, attempted to withdraw his "no contest" plea for Phase I based on ineffective assistance of

counsel – premised on the theory that his prior trial attorneys had guaranteed him an outcome and that his plea was entered based on that guarantee. R. 20, App. 193-195; R. 22, App. 196-199; R. 58; and R. 59. A hearing was held, the Hon. Jeffrey Conen presiding, at which testimony was taken. R. 58. The Court concluded that the plea could not be withdrawn as counsel, at least insofar as that issue, had provided effective assistance of counsel. R. 59 at pp. 3-11. While the Court referenced that original counsel were not ineffective by not calling Dr. Pankiewicz or Dr. Jurek, the Court did not address trial counsel's failure to move into evidence the writings of Mr. Kucharski which were found at the crime scene. *Id.* at pp. 8-9.

Mr. Kucharski was sentenced on December 16, 2011, by the Hon. David Borowski, on Count 1, to a term of incarceration of life imprisonment in the Wisconsin State Prison System, consecutive to any other sentence and on Count 2, a term of incarceration of life imprisonment in the Wisconsin State Prison System, concurrent with Count 1; as to both counts Mr. Kucharski was made eligible for release to extended supervision after serving 30 years. R. 32, App. 124-125; R. 61. Mr. Kucharski was found ineligible for both the Earned Release and the Challenge Incarceration Programs. *Id.* Mr. Kucharski was credited for 676 days, time served. *Id.*

Mr. Kucharski filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief asserting: (1) that

the Trial Court erred by failing to apply the proper legal standard for the "Phase II" determination of Mr. Kucharski's NGI Court Trial; (2) that the Trial Court erred in its ultimate determination as there was no factual support in the Record for its conclusions; and (3) that, in the alternative, Mr. Kucharski was provided ineffective assistance of counsel related to the pursuit of the NGI defense. R. 36, App. 159-192. Briefs were submitted (R. 37, App. 200-217; R. 40, App. 218-222; and R. 41, App. 223-225) and the Trial Court issued a combined oral and written Decision denying Mr. Kucharski's motion for post-conviction relief. R. 62 and R. 42, App. 226-229. The Court concluded that (1) it had addressed both alternatives of the second prong of Wis. Stats. § 971.15; (2) there was a sufficient factual basis to have reached the conclusion it reached; and (3) counsel was not ineffective as further presentation of the evidence in question would not have affected the outcome. *Id.*

Mr. Kucharski now appeals the Trial Court's denial of his post-conviction motion and seeks a reversal of the judgment of conviction and a new disposition hearing in keeping with a proper finding that he was not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 971.15.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts relevant to the issues at hand have been discussed at some length throughout the procedural history outlined above. Additional facts, as necessary, shall

be referenced throughout the text of the Argument below.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In the instant case a reviewing court must review (1) a question of law (whether the Trial Court properly construed the legal standard in its' Wis. Stats. § 971.15 analysis) *Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis.*, 2009, 2009 WI 74, ¶ 36, 319 Wis.2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615; (2) a mixed question of law and fact (whether the Trial Court, given the Record before it, erred in its conclusion that the defense failed to prove its' NGI defense) *State v. Gollon*, 115 Wis.2d 592, 600, 340 N.W.2d 912 (Ct. App. 1983)²; (3) a question of whether discretionary reversal is appropriate (whether reversal is appropriate in the interests of justice) *Wis. Stats.* § 752.35 and *State v. Murdock*, 2000 WI App 170, ¶ 31, 238 Wis.2d 301, 617 N.W.2d 175; and (4) a question of constitutional fact (whether trial counsel was ineffective in pursuing the NGI defense during Phase II of Mr. Kucharski's NGI trial) *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845, _____ (1990).

When reviewing a question of law, an appellate court is not bound by a trial court's conclusions and may review same *ab initio*. *In re Estate of Omernik*, 112 Wis.

² A mixed question of law and fact requires a review of the Trial Court's factual determinations (application of the great weight/clearly erroneous standard) and an independent review of its' conclusions of law. *DOR v. Exxon Corp.*, 90 Wis. 2d 700, 713, 218 N.W.2d 94, 101 (1979).

2d 285, 290, 332 N.W.2d 307, 309 (1983); and *Board of Regents v. Personnel Comm'n*, 103 Wis. 2d 545, 551, 309 N.W.2d 366, 369 (Ct. App. 1981).

When reviewing the legal portion of a mixed question of law and fact, an appellate court again is not bound by a trial court's conclusions of law and may review same *ab initio*. *In re Estate of Omernik*, 112 Wis. 2d 285, 290, 332 N.W.2d 307, 309 (1983); and *Board of Regents v. Personnel Comm'n*, 103 Wis. 2d 545, 551, 309 N.W.2d 366, 369 (Ct. App. 1981). When reviewing the factual portion of a mixed question of law and fact, the trial court's finding of fact will only be overturned if clearly erroneous. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 634, 369 N.W.2d 711, ____ (1985). In other words, trial court findings are to be affirmed unless they are "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Noll v. Dimiceli's, Inc.*, 115 Wis.2d 641, 643, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983).

Discretionary reversal is appropriate where it can be established that:

In an appeal to the court of appeals, if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried, the court may reverse the judgment or order appealed from, regardless of whether the proper motion or objection appears in the record and may direct the entry of the proper judgment or remit the case to the trial court for entry of the proper judgment or for a new trial, and direct the making of such amendments in the pleadings and the adoption of such procedure in that court, not inconsistent with statutes or rules, as are necessary to accomplish the ends of justice.

Wis. Stat. Ann. § 752.35. This standard has been referenced by Appellate Courts and applied accordingly. State v. Murdock, 238 Wis.2d 301, 321, 617 N.W.2d 175, 184 (Ct. App. 2000).

The facts involved in the question of whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel are Constitutional facts. Similar to mixed questions of law and fact, the legal implications of Constitutional facts are reviewed *de novo* after the historical facts are reviewed using the great weight/clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶ 15, 240 Wis.2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF WISCONSIN STATUTES § 971.15.

Wisconsin has laid out its standard for assessing the mental responsibility of a defendant for his criminal conduct in Wis. Stat. § 971.15. The portion of the statute at issue is clearly written in the disjunctive and provides that "[a] person is not responsible for criminal conduct if at the time of such conduct as a result of mental disease or defect the person lacked substantial capacity *either* to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct *or* conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law." (Emphasis added) Wis. Stat. § 971.15.

The critical inquiry under § 971.15 is whether, as a result of a certain mental condition, a defendant lacks substantial capacity to either appreciate the wrongfulness of the defendant's conduct or conform the defendant's conduct to the requirements of the law.

The legislature intended to excuse a defendant from criminal liability only where a mental condition has the requisite effect, i.e., the inability to appreciate wrongfulness *or* to conform conduct.

State v. Duychak, 133 Wis.29 307, 316-17, 395 N.W.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added). Thus, to prevail on a defense of NGI, a defendant must show that at the time of the criminal conduct, he suffered from a mental disease or defect and that the mental condition had the required effect. *Id.* (See also Wis. JI-Criminal 605). The requisite effect includes two possible impairments: (1) the defendant lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or (2) the defendant lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. Wis. Stat. § 971.15 and State v. Duychak at 316-17. To require the defendant to show both that he lacked capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct and to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law would be to interpret this portion of the statute conjunctively and to ignore the plain language of the statute, as well as the caselaw interpreting it. The defendant has satisfied his burden if he is able to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that his mental condition resulted in either requisite effect included in the statute. Thus, an NGI inquiry is not complete unless the trier of fact evaluates whether the defendant's conduct exhibits either of the requisite effects provided for in § 971.15.

The Phase II portion of Mr. Kucharski's trial was to the Court. The

Honorable Judge Jean DiMotto, presiding, stated that "I don't think there's a doubt, much less a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Kucharski suffered from a mental illness at the time that he committed these crimes, and the name of that mental illness is schizophrenia." R. 53 at p. 2. Since the Court found that the answer to the first question of Wis. Stat. § 971.15 was that Mr. Kucharski did suffer from a mental disease at the time of the criminal conduct, it was necessary to proceed to the second question, whether Mr. Kucharski had either of the specified impairments.

It is the Court's analysis of the second prong of evaluating Mr. Kucharski's mental responsibility that is at issue. The Court made a finding whether Mr. Kucharski could appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct. Upon determining that he did not lack substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions, the Court appeared to gloss over the second category of impairment (whether Mr. Kucharski lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law). *Id.* at p. 6-8. Defense counsel stated to the Court that it was her understanding "that the court has to find whether or not he [Mr. Kucharski] could have appreciated the wrongfulness of his actions and also, that he could conform his conduct to the requirements of the law." *Id.* at p. 8. The Court responded that "[i]t's an either or under the statute" to which defense counsel stated, "Well, I thought it was and conform his behavior to the

requirements of the law" to which the Trial Court responded, "It's not" and then ended discussion without fully addressing the second prong.³

The Court's discussion on this second prong of the analysis, while referencing it as being in the disjunctive, appeared to conclude that the language of the statute was in the conjunctive, requiring a finding that Mr. Kucharski was not NGI if the Court concluded that his condition failed to satisfy either of the two options of the second prong of the analysis. Judge Jean DiMotto's interpretation alters the law by ending the analysis if a Court concludes that a defendant fails to satisfy the conditions of either option, thus turning the disjunctive into the conjunctive. Such an interpretation of the law is error.

The Court must make a finding on both categories under the second prong of § 971.15 before it decides the issue of a Defendant's mental responsibility. The "either/or" component of the statute is that the defense need only prove that the defendant fits in one of the two categories. As a result of incorrectly applying the legal standard for the Phase II determination of Mr. Kucharski's NGI Court trial, the Court did not appear to make a finding as to whether Mr. Kucharski was not mentally responsible because he lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. This alone requires that the matter be re-opened for the purpose of taking testimony to determine whether Mr. Kucharski's illness

The Record reflects that the second prong was briefly addressed in Dr. Pankiewicz's Report (R. 11 at page 13

prevented him from conforming his conduct to the requirements of the law.

The Trial Court, in response to Mr. Kucharski's post-conviction motion, asserts that it did, in fact, make findings as to both of the categories under the second prong of Wis. Stats. § 971.15. R. 42, App. 226-229; and R. 62, pp. 3-5. The Trial Court asserts that, despite its apparent mis-statement of the law, it did conclude that Mr. Kucharski failed to satisfy his burden of showing that his mental disease or defect prevented him from either appreciating the wrongfulness of his conduct or conforming his conduct to that which the law requires. *Id.* The Trial Court's original decision when finding against Mr. Kucharski's defense, however, self-admittedly, was speculative:

And I understand the problem here. We're all speculating because all we have is the Defendant's behavior itself and a few statements made in varying degrees of closeness of time, afterwards.

So I don't doubt that he was suffering from a major mental illness called schizophrenia and that that's characterized by the schism between thoughts and emotions. Often as well, characterized by symptoms of delusional thinking, disorganized thinking and hallucinatory thinking. . . .

I think both Dr. Pankiewicz and Dr. Rawski opined that they could not find evidence of a rational, alternative motive for the Defendant's behavior. I don't disagree with that. I think shooting your parents to death with a gun, is conduct that we might not find quote unquote rational. But the lack of finding – This is –

In the end I am going to find him responsible, and the reason is I am not persuaded that it's more probable that his reason for killing his parents – Or strike that.

The reason for killing his parents isn't the issue. I'm finding him legally responsible because I'm not persuaded beyond a level scale. I can't – It's not tipping, even slightly, that he lacked substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the law.

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