# RECEIVED

01-14-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2013AP557-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

COREY R. KUCHARSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, REVERSING A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEAN A. DIMOTTO PRESIDING, AND REMANDING FOR A NEW TRIAL ON MENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER, STATE OF WISCONSIN

> BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED KUCHARSKI A NEW TRIAL ON CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY PURSUANT TO THE MISCARRIAGE-OF-JUSTICE PRONG OF WIS. STAT. § 752.35.
  - A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

Under Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1), a person is not responsible for his criminal conduct when the conduct results from mental disease or defect that caused the person to lack substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law.<sup>1</sup> The defendant bears the burden of proving non-responsibility due to mental disease or defect "to a reasonable certainty by the greater weight of the credible evidence." *Schultz v. State*, 87 Wis. 2d 167, 173, 274 N.W.2d 614 (1979), quoting Wis. Stat. § 971.15(3).

The trier of fact determines the credibility of witnesses and whether the defendant has met his burden of proving lack of capacity by reason of mental disease or defect. *Schultz*, 87 Wis. 2d at 173. Where expert testimony conflicts, it is the role of the trier of fact to determine weight and credibility. *Id.* This role is the same regardless of whether the trial court or a jury determines capacity under § 971.15. *Id.* 

The trier of fact is not required to accept the opinion of an expert, even if uncontradicted. *State* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its entirety, Wis. Stat. § 971.15 provides as follows:

<sup>(1)</sup> A person is not responsible for criminal conduct if at the time of such conduct as a result of mental disease or defect the person lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct or conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law.

<sup>(2)</sup> As used in this chapter, the terms "mental disease or defect" do not include an abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial acts.

<sup>(3)</sup> Mental disease or defect excluding responsibility is an affirmative defense which the defendant must establish to a reasonable certainty by the greater weight of the credible evidence.

v. Sarinske, 91 Wis. 2d 14, 48, 280 N.W.2d 725 (1979). Rather, the fact-finder is free to disbelieve defense experts entirely, even where the State declines to present any experts in rebuttal. *Id.* And where defense experts rely substantially on information provided by the defendant, the basis of their opinion and their diagnoses can be questioned on that ground alone. *Id.* at 49.

Whether the accused has or has not met his burden to prove insanity is a question of fact, not a question of law for the appellate court. *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 660, 370 N.W.2d 240 (1985); *Sarinske*, 91 Wis. 2d at 48.

Under Wis. Stat. § 752.35<sup>2</sup>, the court of appeals may grant a discretionary reversal in either of two situations: 1) if the real controversy has not been fully tried; or 2) if it is likely that justice has for any reason miscarried. *State v. Murdock*, 2000 WI App 170, ¶ 31, 238 Wis. 2d 301, 617 N.W.2d 175. *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶¶ 3,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wisconsin. Stat. § 752.35 provides as follows:

**Discretionary reversal.** In an appeal to the court of appeals, if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried, the court may reverse the judgment or order appealed from, regardless of whether the proper motion or objection appears in the record and may direct the entry of the proper judgment or remit the case to the trial court for entry of the proper judgment or for a new trial, and direct the making of such amendments in the pleadings and the adoption of such procedure in that court, not inconsistent with statutes or rules, as are necessary to accomplish the ends of justice.

345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60. The power of discretionary reversal should be exercised only in exceptional cases. *State v. Burns*, 2011 WI 22, ¶ 25, 332 Wis. 2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166. Although the court of appeals need not use the magic word "exceptional" before exercising its power of discretionary reversal, the appellate court "does have an obligation to analyze why a case is so exceptional to warrant a new trial in the interest of justice." *Avery*, 345 Wis. 2d 407, ¶ 55 n.19.

Where the defendant seeks a new trial on the ground it is probable that justice has miscarried, a reviewing court will not grant a new trial in the interest of justice unless it first concludes that there is "a substantial probability that a different result would be likely on retrial." *State v. Schumacher*, 144 Wis. 2d 388, 401, 424 N.W.2d 672 (1988) (citation omitted). "A probable miscarriage of justice exists only if the evidence and law are such that the defendant[] probably should have won and therefore deserve[s] another chance." J.K. v. Peters, 2011 WI App 149, ¶ 29, 337 Wis. 2d 504, 808 N.W.2d 141; Ford Motor Co. v. Lyons, 137 Wis. 2d 397, 422, 405 N.W.2d 354 (Ct. App. 1987).

This court reviews the court of appeals' award of a new trial under § 752.35 for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Wyss*, 124 Wis. 2d 681, 734, 370 N.W.2d 745 (1985), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

B. The court of appeals failed to explain why this case was the exceptional one meriting discretionary reversal and instead substituted its judgment for that of the fact-finder.

The closest the court of appeals came to finding that the trial court's decision was based on a legal error appears in paragraph 38 of its decision:

> While the trial court discounted this evidence on the basis that it was speculative, in doing so, it appeared to conclude that because the psychiatrists could not know for *certain* what was going through Kucharski's mind when he killed his parents, their opinions were invalid. However, this is not the standard to which we hold medical experts. See Pucci v. Rausch, 51 Wis. 2d 513, 518, 187 N.W.2d 138 (1971) ("The term 'medical certainty' is misleading if certainty is stressed to mean absolute certainty or metaphysical certainty. Medicine is not based upon such certitude but rather upon the empirical knowledge and experience in the area of cause and effect.").

Kucharski, slip op. ¶ 38 (Pet-Ap. 115).

But in observing that the experts were speculating, the trial court was simply picking up on something Dr. Rawski had said during crossexamination. While responding to the prosecutor's question regarding why Kucharski did not follow the voices' command to either kill himself or prompt police to shoot him, Dr. Rawski stated: I asked him afterwards why didn't you have the shootout. He says that he put the gun down and that after he put the gun down, he forg[o]t. I asked about the voices. He said that after he heard the gunshots and the ringing in his ears that the voices went away for a few hours until he got into the County Jail at which time they started to occur again. There's nothing that he reports and I can only speculate as to why he doesn't follow through with that at that point other than . . . it's something that he couldn't bring himself to do initially and that he was distracted from afterwards by the waiting . . . to call the 911.

(52:64-65; emphasis added.)

Dr. Rawski admitted that in his evaluation of Kucharski, there were some "glaring absences of information that we typically rely upon[,] one of which is the statements of the victim or witnesses and there are none in this particular situation." (52:31.)

The trial court's oral decision makes it apparent that the court was bothered by the fact that, after taking his parents' lives, Kucharski was able to resist the voices' command that he should kill himself or force police to kill him. Contrary to the appellate court's accusation, the court's view that trial the experts were "speculating" (53:3; Pet-Ap. 130) did not cause the court to reject their opinions as invalid. In fact, the trial court accepted the experts' shared view that Kucharski was suffering from schizophrenia when he killed his parents (53:2; Pet-Ap. 129). But, despite calling it a "close question," the trial court did not believe that Kucharski had satisfied the for insanity, second part of the test i.e.. demonstrating that result of his as ล schizophrenia, he lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law (53:2, 6-7; Pet-Ap. 129, 133-34). On this latter point, Dr. Rawski and Dr. Pankiewicz disagreed somewhat.

Dr. Rawski's opinion was that schizophrenia caused Kucharski to lack substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions (10:20; 52:35-36). According to Dr. Rawski, although Kucharski had always known it was illegal to kill his parents (52:40), he developed the perspective that it would be altruistic to do so because it would be in their best interest, due to what Kucharski perceived to be their health problems (*id*.:39-40). Dr. Rawski characterized the murders as "a planned . . . set of executions" driven by motive, delusion and hallucinations (*id*.:42).

Dr. Pankiewicz held the opinion that schizophrenia caused Kucharski lack to substantial capacity both to appreciate the wrongfulness of his acts and to conform his behavior to the requirements of the law (11:9; 52:45). Dr. Rawski explained that Dr. Pankiewicz - who did not testify at trial - "puts a little bit more value in the influence of command auditory hallucinations resulting [i]n a[n] incapability of conforming conduct to the requirements of the law" (52:46). Dr. Rawski believed their difference of opinion stemmed partially from the fact Dr. Pankiewicz interviewed Kucharski nearer to the time of the incident than Dr. Rawski had (*id*.).

The trial court questioned Dr. Pankiewicz's opinion that the auditory command voices are what caused Kucharski to kill his parents, i.e., the opinion that the voices Kucharski heard made him lack substantial capacity to conform his behavior to the requirements of law. As the court reasoned, "Dr. Pankiewicz's opinion . . . [is] in essence saying he was responding to the command voices of his hallucinatory experience. And yet he doesn't respond to the command voice, especially the derogatory one that he was the cause of the fight, and he should kill himself and so on, whether directly, or through a shootout with police" (53:4; Pet-Ap. 131). The court found Dr. Rawski's opinion that Kucharski had developed altruistic motives by the time he killed his parents to be "equally speculative" (53:5; Pet-Ap. 132). The reason the court viewed both opinions as speculative was not because it thought the experts needed to be "certain" of what was going through Kucharski's mind, but because the only sources of information available to them were Kucharski's behavior and a few statements he made after the shootings (*id*.).

The trial court's concern that the experts were relying largely on Kucharski's post hoc statements in concluding he was not responsible is well-founded. In *Pautz v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 469, 476-77, 219 N.W.2d 327 (1974), this court indicated that this circumstance allows the trier of fact to question an expert's diagnosis:

> In making their diagnosis, both doctors relied almost entirely on information provided to them by the defendant. The bases of their opinion and the credibility of these experts and their diagnoses could be questioned on this ground alone.

Pautz bears several similarities to this case. There both the court-appointed expert and the defense expert testified that Pautz was suffering from a mental disease when he killed his stepmother. The court-appointed expert, Dr. Lorenz, opined that Pautz lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. The defense expert, Dr. Purdy, opined that although Pautz knew the difference between right and wrong, he was unable to control his conduct as the law required. 64 Wis. 2d at 474-75.

Similarly, here the court-appointed expert and the defense expert agreed that Kucharski was suffering from schizophrenia. The defense expert opined that Kucharski could neither appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct nor conform his conduct to the requirements of law; the courtappointed doctor found only that Kucharski lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions. In both *Pautz* and this case, the State did not present any contrary expert testimony.

In addition to arguing that the trial court should have granted his motion to set aside the jury's verdict, Pautz asked this court<sup>3</sup> to grant him a new trial in the interest of justice. He relied on *Kemp* to support his request. *See* 64 Wis. 2d at 479.

This court cited three reasons why *Kemp* was distinguishable from Pautz's situation. First, Pautz lacked the extensive history of psychiatric problems Kemp had. *Id.* Second, Kemp's mental disorder matched the nature of the crime, whereas there was a serious dispute whether Pautz's

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle 3}$  The court of appeals did not exist when Pautz appealed his conviction.

disorder – explosive personality – matched the nature of his stepmother's murder. *Id.* And third, whereas Kemp could not even remember the crime, Pautz in his confession recounted the incident and indicated his intent to commit the crime. *Id.* 

Two of these reasons align this case with *Pautz*: like Pautz, Kucharski lacked much of a mental health history before the shootings, and he recalled the crimes and admitted they were planned.

Here the trial court, tasked with deciding the issue of mental responsibility, found that Kucharski's lack of a mental health history and the absence of witnesses to the crimes prevented it from finding that Kucharski had met his burden. That determination is completely consistent with this court's refusal to grant a new trial in the interest of justice in *Pautz*. Given that the court of appeals proffered no explanation whatsoever for why this case is exceptional and warrants the exercise of its "formidable power of discretionary reversal,"4 its parallels with Pautz support the State's contention that the appellate court erroneously exercised its discretion in awarding Kucharski a new trial on mental responsibility under § 752.35.

In overturning the trial court's verdict, the court of appeals concluded that Kucharski's schizophrenia must have rendered him nonresponsible for killing his parents because "there was a complete lack of evidence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Wery, 2007 WI App 169, ¶ 21, 304 Wis. 2d 355, 737 N.W.2d 66.

alternative explanations for Kucharski's behavior" Kucharski, slip op. ¶ 40 (Pet-Ap. 116). But the absence of a concrete motive provides no basis for disturbing the trial court's finding. No legal authority supports the proposition that merely because a defendant commits a crime for an irrational purpose or under the irrational belief that it is justified, he is automatically incapable of appreciating the wrongfulness of his actions. A defendant who mentally ill acts for incomprehensible irrational or reasons is nevertheless criminally responsible if he had the substantial capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law and to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct. Moreover, contrary to the court of appeals' statement that there was no evidence to support the theory that Kucharski perpetrated the shootings as a type of "mercy killing" (Kucharski, slip op. ¶ 40; Pet-Ap. 116), Dr. Rawski testified that Kucharski believed it would be in his parents' best interest to kill them. although this belief was distorted (52:39-40).

The trial court's conclusion that it was unconvinced that schizophrenia caused Kucharski to lack the substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law is consonant with this court's declaration in *Sarinske*: the trier of fact is responsible for determining the weight and credibility of the testimony on the question of insanity and is free to reject an expert's opinion even if uncontradicted. 91 Wis. 2d at 48. As this court in *Sarinske* noted, it is permissible for the trier of fact to reject an expert's opinion on the ground it relies substantially on information provided by the defendant. *Id.* at 48-49. That is precisely what the trial court did here. As the dissent observed, "[t]he trial court explained that it distrusted the self-report basis for the doctors' opinions." *Kucharski*, slip op. ¶ 48 (Brennan, J., dissenting) (Pet-Ap. 122). *Sarinske* teaches that the trial court had every right to do so.

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